
MCC Ontario Annual General Meeting Agenda 
September 19, 2022, 7:00-8:00pm 
Meeting location: Zoom (virtual) 

1. Welcome, Land Acknowledgement and Opening Prayer
Lynn Rempel, Board Chair

2. Declaration of Quorum and Description of Voting Procedure
Keith Regehr, Board Secretary

3. Approval of Annual General Meeting Agenda
Lynn Rempel, Board Chair

Motion: To accept and approve the September 19, 2022, Annual General Meeting agenda, as 
presented. 

4. Approval of Annual General Meeting Minutes from September 20, 2021*
Keith Regehr, Board Secretary

Motion: To accept and approve the September 21, 2021, Annual General Meeting minutes, as 
presented. 

5. Policy & Bylaw Review Committee Presentation
John Abraham, Policy & Bylaw Review Committee Chair

a. Revisions to MCC Ontario Bylaw, article 5*
Motion: To accept and approve the revisions made to article 5 in the MCC Ontario Bylaws No.1

6. Audit & Finance Committee Presentation
Eugene Reesor, Board Treasurer

a. 2021-2022 MCC Ontario Audited Financial Statements*, with Q&A
Motion: To accept and approve the 2021-2022 audited statements, as presented.
b. Appointment of auditor for the 2022-2023 fiscal year
Motion: To appoint E.M. Simon LLP as auditor for the 2022-2023 fiscal year.

7. Nominating Committee Presentation
Trisha Ashworth, Nominating Committee Chair

a. 2022-2023 Slate of Directors*
Motion: To accept and approve the 2022-2023 Slate of Directors.

8. Executive Director Presentation
John Head, Executive Director

a. Review of 2021-2022 MCC Ontario Year End Dashboard Report*, with Q&A

9. Meeting Adjournment
Lynn Rempel, Board Chair

Motion: To adjourn the 2022 Annual General Meeting. 

10. Closing Prayer
John Head, Executive Director

*Supporting documents included in business package



MINUTES 
MCCO Annual General Meeting 

September 20, 2021 
50 Kent St., Kitchener, Ontario 

1) Opening:
a) Attendance:
b) The meeting took place on Zoom.

2) Welcome & Prayer:
a) At 7:00 pm Board Chair Lynn Rempel opened the meeting by welcoming participants to the Annual General

Meeting. Lynn also read a land acknowledgement indicating that we share the land with the Six Nations and the
Mississauga of the Credit, land that is covered by two treaties, and that these groups have unresolved interests
in the land.

b) Lynn read the Identity Statement and related scripture from the MCC Principles and Practices document and
invited God’s blessing.

c) Lynn gave instructions for participation in the meeting by Zoom. This included asking questions and voting.
3) Secretary Business

a) Keith Regehr, Board Secretary described eligibility for voting: all those who are appointed as delegates of a
member conference, or those who are board members are entitled to vote.

b) Lynn described quorum as 50% of those delegates appointed. Quorum has been met as all those appointed are
present.

c) Minutes of the 2019 AGM.
i) Moved by Keith Regehr that Motion 1 to accept the minutes be approved, seconded by Trisha Ashworth.

Carried.
4) Audit and Finance Committee:

a) Anita Dong, Chair of Audit and Finance Committee and Board Treasurer presented the financial report. The last
financial year was very good. Revenue was down 8% from the previous year. Ontario expenditures were down
10% and the forwardings to MCCC were down 18%. Anita reviewed the income sources, main expense areas, and
the status of the reserve funds.

b) Moved by Anita Dong that Motion 2 to accept the audited financial statements be approved, seconded by Keith
Regehr. Carried.

c) Moved by Anita that Motion 3 to appoint E. M. Simon LLP as auditor for the next fiscal year be approved,
seconded by Rich Janzen. Carried.

5) Nominating Committee
a) Trisha Ashworth, Chair of the Nominating Committee presented the report, outlining changes to board

membership.
i) Departing Board members, Scott Beach, Linda Branton, Andrew Cullar, and Anita Dong were acknowledged.
ii) Trisha Ashworth (MCEC), Rich Janzen (MB), Keith Regehr (MCEC), Lynn  Rempel (MCEC), and Denis Wall (MB)

need to be appointed for their second term.
iii) New board members are John Abraham (MB), Tammy Cressman (MCEC), Nate Dirks (MB), Hayden Epp

(Student), Eugene Reesor (MCEC), and Bruce Yoder (MCEC).
b) Moved by Trisha that Motion 4 to accept the slate of Board Members be approved, seconded by Matt Miles.

Carried.
6) ED Report

a) 2020/2025 Strategic Plan Year End Report
i) John Head, the Executive Director, reviewed the dashboard report for the 2020/2025 strategic plan. This is

not the annual report for the public, rather it is the way that staff is accountable to the Board. There are 8
strategic directions, 6 of which are shared across the MCC system, and 2 are Ontario specific. Three were
highlighted,
(1) Direction 2 is related to engagement with churches and donors. This is going well.
(2) Direction 4 is related to aligning programme and operations with commitment to creation care and

responding to climate change. This has been hampered by the pandemic and has not been going well.
(3) Direction 6 is related long-term sustainability as an organization. This is rated low, because some areas

are completed, but there is a shift in what needs to be measured.



ii) John pointed to what was learned through the analysis. It is too early to draw significant lessons as it is year
1 in the midst of the pandemic. The pandemic has had significant impact. One lesson has to do with the
strength of staff. There is lots of data being tracked and input on what is tracked is needed.

iii) Delegates were referred to the appendices for more information.
b) 2020/2025 Strategic directions:

i) US and Canada Boards have finalized strategic directions for national and international programme for the
next five years. Four high level strategic goals have been identified. These are focused on:
(1) work with vulnerable people;
(2) audience based communication, fundraising and recruitment;
(3) peacebuilding; and,
(4) assessment of program and operations in light of creation care and supporting marginalized people

affected by climate change.
c) Discussion:

i) Leah Reesor Keller (MCEC): Asked about engagement with congregations during COVID. Response: It was not
a time to connect in person, but also were intentional about developing a strategy on how to engage as
more congregations return to in person.

d) New Church Engagement Staff
i) Stephen Roy introduced himself. His task is implementing church a engagement plan and he has begun to

make significant connections and is encouraged by response so far. He is looking for more opportunities.
7) Comments

a) Ed Willms (MB) expressed gratitude for engagement with MCCO and expressed gratitude for MCC and its work.
8) Closing Prayer

a) Lynn expressed gratitude to those who participated in the meeting. John closed the meeting with prayer.

Minutes recorded by Keith Regehr 

return to agenda
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO) 

GENERAL BYLAWS  

ARTICLE 5– OFFICERS 

5.1 Officers 

(a) The Officers of the Corporation are the Chair, the Vice-Chair, the Secretary, the
Treasurer, the Diversity Officer and Executive Director who shall carry out the
duties hereinafter prescribed for them.

5.2 Election of Officers 

(a) The Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary, Treasurer and Diversity Officer shall be elected
by the Members at the annual meeting, from among the members of the Board,
and shall serve their terms of office as prescribed in Article 5.2 (b).

(b) The Chair, Vice-Chair, Secretary, Treasurer and Diversity Officer shall be elected
for three year terms. The officers shall be eligible for election to two consecutive
three year terms in any one executive position, and a maximum of nine
consecutive years in any combination of offices.

(c) Vacancies in any elective office occurring between annual meetings may be
temporarily filled by appointment made by the Board from among its members.
Persons so appointed will hold office until such vacancy is filled for the duration
of the current term by election at the next annual meeting of Members. The
period of time prior to the election by the members at the next Annual meeting
shall not be counted as years of service by the replacement Officer so appointed,
for purposes of subsequent election to successive terms.

5.3 Chair 

(a) The Chair shall preside at all meetings of Members and all Board meetings.
Except when the Board has appointed an Executive Director, the Chair shall also
have the authority and be charged with the responsibilities of that office.

5.4 Officer Roles 

(a) The Vice-Chair shall

(i) exercise the duties and powers of the Chair when the Chair is absent;

(ii) Chair the Board Governance Committee; and,

(iii) perform such other duties as may from time to time be requested by the
Board.

(b) The Secretary shall:

(i) supervise the recording of all facts and minutes of all proceedings in the
books kept for that purpose;
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(ii) give required notices to Members and Directors; and

(iii) perform such other duties as may from time to time be requested by the
Board.

(iv) The Secretary may delegate to employees of the Corporation any of their
duties which the Board may deem expedient.

(c) The Treasurer shall:

(i) ensure the keeping of full and accurate books of account for the finances
of the Corporation;

(ii) report on the financial position of the Corporation when required to do so
by the Chair or by the Board;

(iii) act as a liaison, when required, between the Corporation and the Public
Accountant in providing such assistance and information as may be
required by the Public Accountant in performing an audit of the
Corporation’s books of account; and’

(iv) perform such other duties as may from time to time be requested by the
Board.

(v) The Treasurer may delegate to employees of the Corporation any of their
duties which the Board may deem expedient.

(d) The Diversity Officer shall:

(i) Chair the Inclusion, Equity and Diversity Committee;

(ii) report on initiatives associated with the IED Committee; and

(iii) perform such other duties as may from time to time be requested by the
Board.

(e) The Chair or the Board may add to, vary or limit the duties of any Officer,
provided that any such addition, variation or limitation is not inconsistent with
these Bylaws.

(f) When both the Chair and the Vice-Chair are absent, the duties of the Chair shall
be exercised by a Director appointed by the Directors present at the meeting.

return to agenda
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

To the Directors of Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario)

Qualified Opinion

Professional Corporation

September 20, 2022

Waterloo, ON

E.M. Simon CPA Professional Corporation
Authorized to practise public accounting by the Chartered Professional Accountants of Ontario

22 King Street South, Waterloo, ON  N2J 1N8

simon@simoncorp.ca    (519) 744-1650

I communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that I identify during my audit.

I have audited the financial statements of Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario), which comprise the statement of financial position as at March 31,

2022, and the statements of operations and changes in net assets for the Operating Fund and the Capital Fund, and the statement of cash flows, for the

year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.  

In my opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis of Qualified Opinion paragraph, the accompanying financial statements

present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario) as at March 31, 2022 and its

consolidated results of operations, changes in net assets, and cash flows, for the year then ended, in accordance with Canadian Accounting Standards

for Not-for-profit Organizations.

Basis of Qualified Opinion

I conducted my audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. My responsibilities under those standards are further described

in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of my report. I am independent of the entity in accordance

with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial statements in Canada, and I have fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in

accordance with these requirements. I believe that the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my qualified

opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with Canadian Accounting

Standards for Not-for-profit Organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the organization's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as

applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the

organization or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the organization's financial reporting process.

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the organization's internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

management.
• Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether

a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the organization's ability to continue as a going concern. If I

conclude that a material uncertainty exists, I am required to draw attention in my auditor's report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if

such disclosures are inadequate, to modify my opinion. My conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of my auditor's report.

However, future events or conditions may cause the organization to cease to continue as a going concern.
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures and whether the financial statements

represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to

fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that

an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to

influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian Auditing Standards, I exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout

the audit. I also:
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my opinion. The risk of not detecting a

material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

In common with many charitable organizations, Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario) derives a portion of its revenues from the general public in the

form of donations and sales of donated goods, the completeness of which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit verification. Accordingly, my verification

of revenues from these sources was limited to accounting for the amounts recorded in the records of Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario).  

Therefore, I was not able to determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to revenues, excess (deficit) of revenues over expenses, and cash

flows for the years ended March 31, 2022 and 2021, current assets as at March 31, 2022 and 2021, and net assets as at April 1, 2020 and March 31,

2022 and 2021. My audit opinion on the financial statements for the year ended March 31, 2021 was also modified because of the possible effects of the

same limitation in scope.

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT MARCH 31, 2022

With comparative figures as at March 31, 2021

(the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

____________ 2022 ___________ __________ 2021 ___________

ASSETS

Operating Capital Total Operating Capital Total

CURRENT Fund Fund Fund Fund

Cash - General Operating Fund 8,842,803 0 8,842,803 4,408,121 0 4,408,121 

Cash - Operating Reserve (notes 1 and 5) 3,055,717 0 3,055,717 2,154,825 0 2,154,825 

Cash - Capital Asset Reserve 0 2,769,620 2,769,620 0 2,460,817 2,460,817 

Investment - Operating Reserve (notes 1, 2 and 5) 300,000 0 300,000 300,000 0 300,000 

Investment - Capital Asset Reserve (note 2) 0 275,167 275,167 0 268,317 268,317 

Accounts receivable 626,613 0 626,613 1,165,763 0 1,165,763 

Investment - Capital Improvement Fund (note 2) 0 59,610 59,610 0 74,050 74,050 

12,825,133 3,104,397 15,929,530 8,028,709 2,803,184 10,831,893

LONG-TERM

Real estate, equipment and vehicles (note 3)

Cost 0 24,983,673 24,983,673 0 24,891,524 24,891,524 

Accumulated amortization 0 9,204,150 9,204,150 0 8,095,724 8,095,724 

0 15,779,523 15,779,523 0 16,795,800 16,795,800 

$12,825,133 $18,883,920 $31,709,053 $8,028,709 $19,598,984 $27,627,693 

LIABILITIES

CURRENT

Accounts payable 373,079 0 373,079 231,814 0 231,814 

Deferred income (note 6) 8,221,934 0 8,221,934 6,312,720 0 6,312,720 

Current portion of long-term debt (note 4) 0 3,218,474 3,218,474 0 3,611,091 3,611,091 

8,595,013 3,218,474 11,813,487 6,544,534 3,611,091 10,155,625 

LONG-TERM (note 4) 0 4,070,613 4,070,613 0 4,509,623 4,509,623 

TOTAL LIABILITIES 8,595,013 7,289,087 15,884,100 6,544,534 8,120,714 14,665,248 

NET ASSETS

OPERATING FUND (page 4) 

Unrestricted 874,403 0 874,403 (970,650) 0 (970,650)

Internally Restricted

Operating Reserve (notes 1 and 5) 3,355,717 0 3,355,717 2,454,825 0 2,454,825 

CAPITAL FUND (page 4)

Internally restricted

Capital Asset Reserve (note 1) 0 3,104,397 3,104,397 0 2,803,184 2,803,184 

Investment in Property, Equipment and Vehicles 0 8,490,436 8,490,436 0 8,675,086 8,675,086 

4,230,120 11,594,833 15,824,953 1,484,175 11,478,270 12,962,445 

$12,825,133 $18,883,920 $31,709,053 $8,028,709 $19,598,984 $27,627,693 

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN NET ASSETS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2021

(the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

____________ 2022 ___________ __________ 2021 ___________

Operating Capital Total Operating Capital Total

Fund Fund Fund Fund

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF INCOME OVER EXPENSES 3,899,562 (1,037,054) 2,862,508 1,710,269  (1,128,662) 581,607 

Interfund transfers

Operating Fund - budgeted capital funding (73,421) 73,421 0 36,304  (36,304) 0 

Thrift Shop forwardings for capital projects 0 0 0  (51,955) 51,955 0 

Thrift Shop forwardings for mortgage payments (471,703) 471,703 0  (502,374) 502,374 0 

Thrift RePurpose and Hazelglen costs (561,119) 561,119 0  (550,745) 550,745 0 

Thrift Shops - capital assets, shared occupancy (47,374) 47,374 0  (79,721) 79,721 0 

CHANGE IN NET ASSETS 2,745,945 116,563 2,862,508 561,778 19,829 581,607 

OPENING NET ASSETS 1,484,175 11,478,270 12,962,445 922,397 11,458,441 12,380,838 

CLOSING NET ASSETS $4,230,120 $11,594,833 $15,824,953 $1,484,175 $11,478,270 12,962,445 

REPRESENTED BY:

Unrestricted:

Thrift Shops (page 14) 1,171,980 0 1,171,980  (682,772) 0 (682,772)

Alumni Loan Fund 3,580 0 3,580 3,564 0 3,564 

General Operations (301,157) 0 (301,157) (291,442) 0 (291,442)

Investment in Property, Equipment and Vehicles 0 8,490,436 8,490,436 0 8,675,086 8,675,086 

874,403 8,490,436 9,364,839 (970,650) 8,675,086 7,704,436 

Internally Restricted:

Operating Reserve (note 5) 3,355,717 0 3,355,717 2,454,825 0 2,454,825 

Capital Asset Reserve

50 Kent Capital Maintenance 0 1,549,491 1,549,491 0 1,901,470 1,901,470 

Equipment and Vehicle Capital Replacement 0 388,156 388,156 0 302,646 302,646 

Thrift Shop Capital Expansion 0 1,166,750 1,166,750 0 599,068 599,068 

3,355,717 3,104,397 6,460,114 2,454,825 2,803,184 5,258,009 

$4,230,120 $11,594,833 $15,824,953 $1,484,175 $11,478,270 $12,962,445 

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS - OPERATING FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2021

(the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

INCOME 2022 2021

Donations

General fund 4,959,232 5,143,557 

Designated for forwarding 6,242,322 3,741,978 

11,201,554 8,885,535 

Other

Thrift Shops (page 14) 8,097,447 6,786,345 

Operating Reserve (note 5) 2,828,783 1,695,888 

Relief Sales 284,409 187,900 

Interest income 40,954 23,720 

11,251,593 8,693,853 

Direct Support for Ontario Programs

Designated donations 1,204,789 1,064,999 

Grants and other income (note 6) 1,472,108 1,833,790 

2,676,897 2,898,789 

TOTAL INCOME 25,130,044 20,478,177 

FORWARDED TO MCC (CANADA)

Designated donations 6,242,322 3,741,978 

General donations 5,101,830 5,635,241 

11,344,152 9,377,219 

INCOME RETAINED FOR ONTARIO 13,785,892 11,100,958 

ONTARIO EXPENSES (page 15)

Programs 3,182,365 2,733,249 

Fundraising Coordination 723,223 737,373 

Fundraising Projects 70,684 67,471 

General administration and board 934,177 647,730 

Thrift Shops 4,975,881 5,204,866 

9,886,330 9,390,689 

EXCESS OF INCOME OVER EXPENSES $3,899,562 $1,710,269

DRAFT



Page 6

MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS - CAPITAL FUND

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2021

(the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

2022 2021

INCOME

Donations 31,000 151,400 

Investment income 30,792 55,037 

Rent and Capital Asset Reserve contributions 262,396 266,266 

324,188 472,703 

EXPENSES

Amortization of property and equipment costs:

Programs and administration:

 Equipment 78,539 79,723 

 Vehicles 10,968 15,044 

 Buildings 388,640 407,991 

478,147 502,758 

Thrift Shops:

 Equipment 61,422 60,967 

 Vehicles 1,662 2,375 

 Leasehold improvements 92,455 186,236 

 Buildings 231,143 240,900 

386,682 490,478 

Total Amortization 864,829 993,236 

Mortgage interest 252,816 284,740 

Write off Thrift Re-Purpose and Hazelglen costs (note 9) 243,597 323,389 

1,361,242 1,601,365 

EXCESS (DEFICIT) OF INCOME OVER EXPENSES ($1,037,054) ($1,128,662)DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2021

(the accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements)

____________ 2022 ___________ __________ 2021 ___________

Operating Capital Total Operating Capital Total

SOURCES (USES) OF CASH: Fund Fund Fund Fund

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Excess of income over expenses for the year 3,899,562 (1,037,054) 2,862,508 1,710,269 (1,128,662) 581,607 

Items not affecting cash flows:

Amortization - buildings, equipment and vehicles 0 864,829 864,829 0 993,236 993,236 

Write off Thrift Re-Purpose and Hazelglen costs 0 243,597 243,597 0 323,389 323,389 

3,899,562 71,372 3,970,934 1,710,269 187,963 1,898,232 

Change in current assets and liabilities:

Investments 0 (6,850) (6,850) 0 (25,638) (25,638)

Accounts receivable 539,150 0 539,150 (1,042,319) 0 (1,042,319)

Mortgage receivable 0 14,440 14,440 0 4,664 4,664 

Accounts payable 141,265 0 141,265 52,658 0 52,658 

Deferred income 1,909,214 0 1,909,214 2,967,432 0 2,967,432 

6,489,191 78,962 6,568,153 3,688,040 166,989 3,855,029 

INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Additions to buildings, equipment and vehicles 0 (92,149) (92,149) 0 (964,202) (964,202)

Proceeds from sale of vehicle 0 0 0 0 0 0 

Repayment (acquisition) of mortgage receivable 0 0 0 0 0 0 

0 (92,149) (92,149) 0 (964,202) (964,202)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Long-term debt repaid 0 (831,627) (831,627) 0 (526,004) (526,004)

Interfund transfers (1,153,617) 1,153,617 0 (1,148,491) 1,148,491 0 

(1,153,617) 321,990 (831,627) (1,148,491) 622,487 (526,004)

CHANGE IN CASH FOR THE YEAR 5,335,574 308,803 5,644,377 2,539,549 (174,726) 2,364,823 

CASH ON HAND - beginning of the year 6,562,946 2,460,817 9,023,763 4,023,397 2,635,543 6,658,940 

CASH ON HAND - end of the year $11,898,520 $2,769,620 $14,668,140 $6,562,946 $2,460,817 $9,023,763 

REPRESENTED BY:

Cash - General Operating Fund 8,842,803 0 8,842,803 4,408,121 0 4,408,121 

Cash - Operating Reserve (notes 1 and 5) 3,055,717 0 3,055,717 2,154,825 0 2,154,825 

Cash - Capital Asset Reserve 0 2,769,620 2,769,620 0 2,460,817 2,460,817 

$11,898,520 $2,769,620 $14,668,140 $6,562,946 $2,460,817 $9,023,763 

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2022

PURPOSE

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Mennonite Central Committee (MCC), a worldwide ministry of Anabaptist churches, shares God's love and

compassion for all in the name Christ by responding to basic human needs and working for peace and justice.

Mennonite Central Committee (Ontario), (MCCO) engages in a number of programs which are consistent with MCC'S

ministry. MCCO is incorporated in Ontario, without share capital, is a registered charity, and as such does not pay

income tax.

MCCO receives material-in-kind contributions from supporters which are forwarded to communities in need. MCCO assigns

values to these in-kind contributions based on conservative estimates of their market values, and reflects these contributions as

contributions designated for forwarding. MCCO also receives many hours of service from its many volunteers. Because it is

impractical to determine a fair value for these services, their value is not reflected in these financial statements.

All Operating Fund receipts which are designated (restricted) by the donor for a specific purpose (such as government grants

and donations designated for programs) are reflected as deferred income on the statement of financial position until expended

as designated, whereupon the funds are reflected as income. Each year, MCCO enters into an agreement with MCC Canada

as to what portion of general donations will be retained for use for Ontario programs and overhead costs (the provincial

allotment). Program expenditures are funded in the following order - income generated by the program, grants restricted to the

program for the specific fiscal period, the provincial allotment, and then grants and donations which are designated for the

program but are not restrcted to the fiscal period. Undesignated receipts are reflected as income when received or receivable,

provided collection is reasonably assured and amounts reasonably estimable. When MCCO receives restricted contributions

which are conditional on MCCO obtaining funding from third parties in addition to the restricted contributions (matching

funding), expenses are funded first with matching funds, then with donor restricted funds.

Fund Accounting - MCCO maintains its accounts in accordance with the principles of fund accounting, wherein resources for

various purposes are classified in accordance with activities or objectives as specified by the Board, management or donors.

Basis of presentation - These financial statements have been prepared using Canadian Accounting Standards for Not-for-

profit Organizations.

Income Recognition - MCCO uses the restricted fund method of accounting, whereby restricted (designated) contributions to

the Capital Fund, are reflected as income when received or receivable, and the accumulated amount of such contributions, net

of respective expenditures, is reflected as restricted net assets in the appropriate restricted fund (the Capital Fund) on the

statement of financial position until the funds are spent as designated.

The Operating Fund reflects the assets, liabilities, income and expenses related to all ongoing programs of MCCO. The

Operating Reserve is a pool of funding contained within the Operating Fund which is used to stabilize the often fluctuating cash

flows available for Operating Fund expenditures. All undesignated bequests are deposited into the Operating Reserve.

Accumulated bequests and interest are transferred to the Operating Fund bank account monthly based on a formula which

restricts minimum and maximum balances in net assets available for operations. The Capital Fund reflects MCCO's net

Investment in Capital Assets, plus the net assets restricted by donors or the Board in the Capital Asset Reserve. The Capital

Asset Reserve has three components - 50 Kent Capital Maintenance, which is a reserve of assets designed to enable

maintenance of MCCO's head office, Equipment and Vehicle Capital Replacement, which is a reserve of assets designed to

enable the replacement of equipment and vehicles, and Thrift Shop Capital Expansion, which is a reserve of funds which are

advanced to Thrift Shops to enable expansion. The 50 Kent Capital Maintenance portion of the reserve receives rent from

tenants, capital donations, capital loans, and transfers from Thrift Shops, and disburses funds on mortgage payments and

maintenance of the head office. The Equipment and Vehicle Capital Replaement portion of the reserve receives annual

budgeted allocations from the Operating Fund for equipment and vehicle replacement. The Thrift Shop Capital Expansion

portion of the reserve receives donations, loans and transfers from Thrift Shops, which are used to enable capital expansion at

Thrift Shops.

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2022

 Buildings - 5% on the declining balance

     Leasehold improvements - 20% on the declining balance

 Equipment - 20% on the declining balance

 Vehicles - 30% on the declining balance

2. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 2022 2021

Operating Fund Capital Fund Total Total

Financial assets reflected at fair value

Balanced Pool Funds 0 275,167 275,167 268,317 

Operating Reserve - Fixed Income Fund 300,000 0 300,000 300,000 

Financial assets reflected at amortized cost

Capital Asset Reserve:

   Mortgage receivable - Erie St. Leamington, 3%, quarterly

     payments of $10,000 principal plus interest, due Sept. 2023 59,610 59,610 74,050 

300,000 334,777 634,777 642,367 

Cash and accounts receivable 12,525,133 2,769,620 15,294,753 10,189,526 

$12,825,133 $3,104,397 $15,929,530 $10,831,893 

Real estate, equipment and vehicles - are reflected at cost, and amortized at the following annual rates:

Use of Estimates - The preparation of financial statements in accordance with Canadian Accounting Standards for Not-for-

profit Organizations sometimes requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of

assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported

amount of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. In particular, MCCO includes in income (Donations designated

for forwarding), the estimated fair value of donated materials included in material aid shipments made during the year

($481,849 and $305,789 in the current and prior years respectively). These estimates are reviewed periodically and adjusted

proactively as they become necessary. An identical amount is included in expenses for the year as Forwarded to MCC

(Canada). Actual fair values could differ from those estimated. In addition, amortization of property and equipment requires

estimates and assumptions related to the useful life of the related assets. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Allocation of Administrative Expenses to Programs - MCCO allocates certain general administrative expenses, such as

telephone and internet charges, office supplies, building maintenance, building and equipment amortization, building insurance,

software, computer support and receptionist's payroll costs, to its departments. These expenses are allocated to departments

based on the number of full-time-equivalent employees working directly in each department.

As in the prior year, management believes the organization does face some interest rate risk, in that, significant increases in

market interest rates could significantly increase interest costs relating to its mortgages and loans payable, upon renewal of

these obligations. As in the prior year, management believes it does not face any significant market, credit, currency or

liquidity risk with respect to its remaining financial instruments.

Financial Instruments - A financial instrument is a contract that creates a financial asset for one entity and a financial liability

or equity instrument of another. Financial assets and liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except for non-arm’s length

transactions, if any. The organization subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at amortized cost,

except for investments in equity instruments with quoted fair values in an active market, if any, which are measured at fair

value. Changes in fair value are recognized in net income. Financial assets measured at cost are tested for impairment when

there are indicators of impairment. The amount of any write-down is recognized on the statement of operations and changes in

net assets. Any previously recognized impairment losses may be reversed and reflected in income to the extent of

improvement, provided they are no greater than the amount that would have been reported at the date of the reversal had the

impairment not been recognized previously.

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2022

3. REAL ESTATE, EQUIPMENT AND VEHICLES 2022 2021

Net Book Net Book

Cost Amortization Value Value

 Buildings

Head office and partner facility - Kitchener - Kent Ave. 11,590,368 4,245,066 7,345,302 7,731,897

Timmins - Pine St. S. 41,954 3,094 38,860 40,905

Thrift Shops: Elmira - Church St. 589,100 343,677 245,423 258,340

Leamington - Mill St. 1,677,720 473,563 1,204,157 1,267,534

New Hamburg - Heritage Dr. 2,276,156 1,053,789 1,222,367 1,286,702

St. Catharines - Grantham Ave 632,991 296,790 336,201 353,896

Stouffville - Ringwood Dr. 2,036,595 653,043 1,383,552 1,456,371

18,844,884 7,069,022 11,775,862 12,395,645

 Land

Head office and partner facility - Kitchener - Kent Ave. 1,545,165 0 1,545,165 1,545,165

Timmins - Pine St. S. 10,000 0 10,000 10,000

Thrift Shops: Elmira - Church St. 147,275 0 147,275 147,275

Leamington - Mill St. 254,000 0 254,000 254,000

New Hamburg - Heritage Dr. 321,389 0 321,389 321,389

St. Catharines - Grantham Ave 155,625 0 155,625 155,625

Stouffville - Ringwood Dr. 565,000 0 565,000 565,000

2,998,454 0 2,998,454 2,998,454

 Leasehold Improvements 802,484 432,665 369,819 705,871

 Total Real Estate 22,645,822 7,501,687 15,144,135 16,099,970

 Equipment 2,095,530 1,489,614 605,916 653,728

 Vehicles 242,321 212,849 29,472 42,102

$24,983,673 $9,204,150 $15,779,523 $16,795,800

4.

2022 2021

50 Kent Ave, Kitchener, ON

486,167 633,069 

1,004,195 1,074,071 

1,081,758 1,140,966 

1,425,000 1,425,000 

continued on the next page

Promissory note payable - Kindred Credit Union - 3.55% interest, requiring monthly principal

and interest monthly payments of $8,206, due February 2026, secured by a $6,000,000 first

mortgage on the real estate at 50 Kent Ave., held jointly by Abundance Canada and Kindred

Credit Union.

Mortgage payable - Kindred Credit Union - 3.65% interest, requiring monthly principal and

interest payments of $9,013, due July 2026, secured by a $6,000,000 first mortgage on the

real estate at 50 Kent Ave. held jointly by Abundance Canada and Kindred Credit Union.

LONG-TERM DEBT

Mortgage payable - Abundance Canada - 3.45% interest, requiring monthly principal and

interest payments of $13,911, due July 2022, secured by a $6,000,000 first mortgage on the

real estate at 50 Kent Ave. held jointly by Abundance Canada and Kindred Credit Union.

Mortgage payable - Mennonite Conference of Eastern Canada - 5.5% interest, requiring

monthly payments of interest only, due October 2023, secured by a $1,425,000 third mortgage

on the real estate at 50 Kent Ave.

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2022

4. 2022 2021

50 Kent Ave, Kitchener, ON (continued)

1,084,000 1,450,000 

Leamington Thrift Shop

747,483 789,508 

Stouffville Thrift Shop

1,210,484 1,258,100 

250,000 250,000 

rePurpose Centre, Elmira

0 100,000 

7,289,087 8,120,714 

Current portion 3,218,474 3,611,091 

$4,070,613 $4,509,623 

Projected repayment of long-term debt:

Year 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 Total

Amount 3,218,474 1,613,267 195,010 1,024,903 1,237,433 7,289,087 

5. OPERATING RESERVE

2022 2021

Income

   Donations by bequest 1,925,615 1,675,214 

   Interest 18,953 14,674 

   MCC Canada recoveries (deficit coverage) 884,215 6,000 

Total income for the year (page 5) 2,828,783 1,695,888 

Opening net assets 2,454,825 1,292,511 

   Transfer from (to) General Operations (1,927,891) (533,574)

Closing net assets (page 3) $3,355,717 $2,454,825 

Represented by;

   Cash (page 3) 3,055,717 2,154,825 

   Investment (page 3) 300,000 300,000 

$3,355,717 $2,454,825 

Private loans  - promissory notes, unsecured, 0% interest, principal due on demand

LONG-TERM DEBT (continued)

Demand note payable - Kindred Credit Union - 3.9% interest, requiring monthly principal and

interest payments of $5,986, due July 2025, secured by a $1,000,000 first mortgage on the

real estate at 62 Mill St. Leamington and 41 Heritage Dr., New Hamburg.

Raising Hope Construction Loans - promissory notes, unsecured, requiring payment of

interest between 0% and 2.5% annually, principal of due on demand or in the forthcoming 

Private loans  - promissory notes, unsecured, 0% interest, principal due on demand

Mortgage payable - Abundance Canada - Stouffville Thrift Shop - 3.6% interest, requiring

monthly principal and interest payments of $7,658, due March 31, 2023, secured by a first

charge on real estate at 33 Ringroad Drive., Stouffville

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2022

6. DEFERRED INCOME, GOVERNMENT GRANTS AND OTHER INCOME

Balance Income Income Balance

March 31 Received Expended March 31

2021 (Recognized) 2022

Government grants:

  Canada Employment Wage Subsidy 0 508,891 508,891 0 

  Correctional Services Canada - Community Integration 5,573 50,394 41,813 14,155 

  Region of Waterloo - Circle of Friends and People's Action 8,822 160,947 150,060 19,708 

14,395 720,232 700,764 33,863 

Other Grants 86,911 259,167 240,689 105,389 

Total Government and Other Grants 101,306 979,399 941,453 139,252 

Other Income 0 530,655 530,655 0 

Total Grants and Other Income (page 5) 101,306 1,510,054 1,472,108 139,252 

Designated donations and other income

  Ontario Programs

- Refugee Family Support (note 8) 1,870,764 1,116,683 373,431 2,614,016 

- Administrative Services 1,568,035 767,642 95,000 2,240,678 

- Other Refugee programs 93,850 60,306 1,828 152,328 

  Meat Canning 378,364 7,323 16,639 369,049 

  MCC Canada 757,549 231,845 0 989,394 

  Other Programs 1,542,852 892,257 717,891 1,717,217 

6,211,414 3,076,056 1,204,789 8,082,682 

Total Deferred Income (page 3) $6,312,720 $4,586,110 $2,676,897 $8,221,934 

7. CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS, COMMITMENTS, CONTINGENCIES

Fiscal Year Annual base rent

2023 137,829       

2024 138,862       

2025 139,904       

2026 58,730         

8. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

MCC Canada (MCCC) has signed a Private Sponsorship of Refugees (PSR) Agreement with Immigration Refugee and

Citizenship Canada (IRCC), formerly the Department of Citizenship and Immigration Canada (CIC), to provide financial, human

resources and moral support to a certain number of refugees sponsored under the PSR program. MCCC’s responsibilities

under this agreement were assigned to the various Canadian MCCs.

MCC Ontario has partnered with various church and community groups to assist with the sponsorship and resettlement of

certain refugee families in Ontario. These groups have placed on deposit with MCC Ontario the necessary funds to sponsor

and support these refugee families for the required period of time. Management believes it has sufficient designated funds on

hand and volunteer group support to meet its commitment to IRCC.  

MCCO has entered into lease agreements with a number of tenants at its head office and partner facility which generate an

annual base rental income of approximately $245,000. All leases mature between 2021 and 2023. In addition to base rent,

tenants typically pay a pro rata share of common costs, plus contribute to a capital reserve which is intended to accumulate

funds to finance future significant capital costs necessary for continued operation of the building.

MCCO has a lease commitment with respect to a premises which commenced July 1, 2020 and expires August 31, 2025. The

lease requires annual base rent payments of $135,784, increasing by the Consumer Price Index annually, plus common costs

related to the property.  Projected annual base rent payments are as follows:DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

MARCH 31, 2022

9. SIGNIFICANT EVENTS

During and subsequent to MCCO's current fiscal year, the world was, and continues to be, greatly impacted by the Covid-19

pandemic. Government regulations, community response and the response of MCCO's management team to this pandemic

greatly impacted operations at MCCO. While MCCO was required to make significant changes to its operations to protect its

staff and stakeholders, it is impractical to estimate the financial impact these changes will have on future operations.

In the current and prior years, a decision was made to discountinue operations at the Kitchener (Hazelglen) Thrift Shop and the

Thrift Re-Purpose Centre. The unamortized balance of all leasehold improvements related to the properties where these

programs were operating were written off in the respective years.

DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)

THRIFT SHOPS 

INCOME, EXPENSES AND CHANGE IN NET OPERATING ASSETS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2021

2022 2021

INCOME

Sales of donated goods 7,348,833 5,461,927 

Canada Employment Wage Subsidy and other income 568,614 1,204,418 

Forwardings from Associate Thrift Shops 180,000 120,000 

8,097,447 6,786,345 

EXPENSES

Personnel 3,049,199 3,190,337 

Facility costs 624,227 727,379 

Other operating costs 1,302,455 1,287,150 

4,975,881 5,204,866 

NET INCOME 3,121,566 1,581,479 

Forwarded to MCCO Operating Fund

MCCO shops (3,555,403) (2,217,774)

Associate shops (180,000) (120,000)

Administrative and rePurpose Centre expenses recovered from forwardings: 754,037 671,038 

NET INCOME RETAINED BY OWNED SHOPS 140,200 (85,257)

OPENING NET OPERATING ASSETS - OWNED THRIFT SHOPS (682,772)  (517,794)

Capital assets purchased and Maintenance Reserve contributions (47,374) (79,721)

Transfer from Capital Fund - Re-Purpose and Hazelglen costs 1,761,926 0 

CLOSING NET OPERATING ASSETS - OWNED THRIFT SHOPS (page 4) $1,171,980 $(682,772)

REPRESENTED BY:

Cash 1,353,856 1,081,530 

Accounts receivable 48,299 421,111 

Accounts payable (230,175) (2,185,413)

Net Assets (deficit) $1,171,980 $(682,772)DRAFT
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MENNONITE CENTRAL COMMITTEE (ONTARIO)
ONTARIO EXPENSES -  PROGRAMS, FUNDRAISING AND ADMINISTRATION

FOR THE YEAR ENDED MARCH 31, 2022

With comparative figures for the year ended March 31, 2021

Administrative 2022 2021

Charges

PROGRAMS

Justice & Peacebuilding

Peacebuilding and Conflict Transformation 12,604 218,842 223,067 

Restorative Justice 26,574 544,258 540,797 

39,178 763,100 763,864 

Diaster Relief

Humanitarian Relief & Disaster Recovery 10,191 444,422 375,046 

Sustainable Community Development

Education 477 7,246 6,940 

Food Security and Sustainable Livelihoods 54,280 840,411 703,318 

Migration and Resettlement 46,793 1,127,186 884,081 

101,550 1,974,843 1,594,339 

Total Programs (page 5) 150,919 3,182,365 2,733,249 

FUNDRAISING COORDINATION

Donor Relations 49,733 644,437 599,159 

Relief Sales and Thrift Shops 153 78,786 138,214 

Total Fundraising Coordination (page 5) 49,886 723,223 737,373 

FUNDRAISING PROJECTS

Relief Sales - donations forwarded 44,445 23,563 

Thrift Shops - donations forwarded and rePurpose Centre start-up 26,239 43,908 

Total Fundraising Projects (page 5) 0 70,684 67,471 

GENERAL ADMINISTRATION AND BOARD

Administration 490,519 342,203 

Board, annual general meeting, audit 31,661 29,868 

Community Engagement 81,549 80,722 

Human Resources 302,961 251,537 

Physical Resources 173,486 117,689 

Regional Representatives 54,806 22,671 

1,134,982 844,690 

Recoveries: Administrative expenses charged to programs (note 1) (200,805) (196,960)

Total General Administration and Board (page 5) 0 934,177 647,730 

THRIFT SHOP EXPENSES (pages 5 and 14) 0 4,975,881 5,204,866 

TOTAL ONTARIO EXPENSES (page 5) $200,805 $9,886,330 $9,390,689 

DRAFT
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MCC Ontario Slate of Officers and Directors 2022- 2023 

Officers and Directors nominated by MCC Ontario: 

2021-2022 MCC Ontario Board 
2022-2023 Recommended 
Slate and Proposed Board, 
Part 1 of 2 On-

going 

2nd 
term: 

for 
vote 

1st 
term: 

for 
vote Role Name Conf. Term(s) Name Conf. Term 

Chair Lynn 
Rempel 

MCEC 2021-
2024 

Lynn 
Rempel 

MCEC 2021-
2023 

√ 

Vice-Chair Rich Janzen MB 2021-
2024 

Trisha 
Ashworth 

MCEC 2022-
2025 

√ 

Secretary Keith 
Regehr 

MCEC 2021-
2024 

(Yet to be 
determined) 

Treasurer Eugene 
Reesor 

MCEC 2021-
2024 

Eugene 
Reesor 

MCEC 2021-
2024 

√ 

Additional Keith 
Martin 

Additional 2019-
2022 

Additional Jean de 
Dieu 
Basabose 

MB 2020-
2023 

Jean de 
Dieu 
Basabose 

MB 2020-
2023 

√ 

Directors representing member constituent conferences: 
2020-2021 MCC Ontario Board 2021-2022 Recommended Slate 

of Nominees, Part 2 of 2 On-
going 

2nd 
term: 

for 
vote 

1st 
term: 

for 
vote Role Name Conf. Term(s) Name Conf. Term 

Conf. Rep Trisha 
Ashworth 

MCEC 2018-2021 Keith Regehr MCEC 2021-2024 √ 

Conf. Rep Matthew Miles BIC 2020-2023 Matthew Miles BIC 2020-2023 √ 
Conf. Rep Denis Wall MB 2018-2021 Denis Wall MB 2021-2024 √ 
Conf. Rep Irene Gibbins BIC 2019-2022 Irene Gibbins BIC 2022-2025 √ 
Conf. Rep Arja-Lisa 

Sanfilippo 
BIC 2019-2022 Jean West-

Higginson 
BIC 2022-2025 √ 

Conf. Rep Linda Branton MB 2018-2021 Bruce Yoder MCEC 2021-2024 √ 
Conf. Rep Scott Beech MCEC 2018-2021 John Abraham MB 2021-2024 √ 

Conf. Rep Nate Dirks MB 2021-2024 Nate Dirks MB 2021-2024 √ 

Conf. Rep Tammy 
Cressman 

MCEC 2021-2024 

Student reps nominated by MCC Ontario: Appointees by MCC Ontario to other MCC entities: 
Yet to be determined  MCC Canada Board Member: Lynn Rempel (2021-2024) 

MCCC Delegate Body: Yet to be determined 

Legend:  
BIC = Be In Christ   
EMC = Evangelical Mennonite Conference  
EMMC = Evangelical Mennonite Mission Conference 
MW = Markham Waterloo 
MB = Mennonite Brethren   
MCEC = Mennonite Church Eastern Canada 
OC = Old Colony 
CGUC = Conrad Grebel University College  
EBC = Emmanuel Bible College  
RUC = Redeemer University College



2022 New Board Director Candidate Bio: 

Jean Higginson 
Previous and Current Connections with MCC: 
Be In Christ (BIC) church member & donor 

Church Membership and involvement:  
Jean attends Sauble Christian Fellowship where her spouse, Chris, is the Acting Lead Pastor. She 
participates on several committees including Community Care, Property/Building, Stage Set & Design, 
Missions, and First Impressions/Welcome. Additionally, she serves in children’s ministry.  
Between 2015 and 2021, she and Chris planted a BIC church in Kincardine.  

Educational Background: 
• Nursing Assistant College Diploma
• Education Support Worker
• Palliative Care
• Personal Support Worker
• Office Administration

Current & Previous Employment:  
Jean achieved 25 years of service working in long-term care specializing in Alzheimer’s and Palliative 
Care. She retired in 2020 as the Director of Care in a retirement home.  

Hobbies and/or community involvements:  
Jean enjoys knitting, sewing, refinishing furniture, running long distances and live theatre. She has five 
grown children and a pet cat named Finnigan. 

return to agenda



MCC ONTARIO
YEAR-END DASHBOARD REPORT

Overall Summary 

This past fiscal year, COVID-19 continued to magnify the inequities experienced in 
areas from housing to technology in the communities MCC serves. It has also been a 
year of conflict. It was impossible to ignore the escalating tensions between political 
parties, cultural groups and between nations. Instead of finding common ground, it 
seems that issues of class, race, gender, health policies and environmentalism are 
becoming ever more polarized.

But through it all, MCC continued to engage churches, partners, donors and shoppers, 
and create cultures of peace in our communities. Once again, we were moved by our 
supporters' generosity, and customers returning to our Thrift Shops as they reopened.

In the face of hatred and ignorance, knowledge, understanding and empathy are 
often the best way forward. When we recognize our responsibility for the well-being of 
others, we can change our communities for the better.

2021-2022

Re-Connections

Joseph’s story is one representative example of how 
MCC Ontario is helping to change communities for 
the better. He is a man of few words, but the ones he 
chooses sum up Circle of Friends very well: "Good visit. 
Good coffee. Good conversation."

As one of the few Circle of Friends starting during the 
height of the pandemic, Joseph’s began as a weekly 
conference call between strangers. The conversation 
was strained, as it was hard to build any relationships. 
As restrictions eased, the group began meeting 
in a park, but even then, conversations could get 
uncomfortable and lost in opinions of COVID-19.

Circle facilitator Cindy McRae noticed that as the Circle 
continued to meet, "much respect, trust, 

honesty, good communication and understanding has 
been established." In that space, Joseph, this quiet, 
cautious man, began to open up. He shared his interest 
in birds, animals, flowers and nature documentaries.

Joseph says that he is thankful that his Circle "got 
him out of his room and house and encouraged him to 
call his family members." He has reconnected with his 
brother, visits regularly with family and phones other 
family members out west. 

The Circle of Friends program continues to foster 
deep and meaningful connections for vulnerable and 
isolated people like Joseph, moving from isolation into 
community.

https://mcccanada.ca/learn/more/circle-friends


MCC Ontario Strategic Plan – Dashboard Report – User Guide 

Welcome to Year 2 of MCC Ontario’s Strategic Plan Year-End Dashboard Report! We are pleased to now 
have two years of data to compare and measure our progress toward what we are strategically pursuing 
as an organization. The information below is meant to help guide your use of the information on the 
following pages.

Purpose: The purpose of this Report is to document and track MCC Ontario’s progress toward 
implementing its five-year 2020-2025 Strategic Plan. Referring to the Strategic Plan (Appendix 1) is 
important as it lays out the various operational priorities and key performance indicators (KPI) that the 
organization has committed to in its planning process. The purpose of MCC Ontario’s Strategic Plan is 
to identify strategic directions over five years that will equip us to advance our mission.

Commitment to learning and adjusting: The Strategic Plan and Dashboard are tools to help MCC Ontario 
leadership articulate, track and document where it wants to go and how it plans to get there. As we go 
through the five years of the plan, we will learn about what is working, what is not and what will need to 
adjust along the way. The intention for the data collected is to help us make meaning of the information 
coming forward and assess what we are learning, to determine whether our approaches, strategies and 
priorities need to be adjusted. We anticipate that this document will encourage questions, discernment, 
dialogue and reflection at various levels of the organization.

Timelines: This Report is completed twice a year. In the fall, the Mid-Year Dashboard Report is compiled 
in a tentative manner to assess initial progress against directions, operational priorities and KPIs. In April 
and May of each year, a more comprehensive year-end report is gathered, including all KPI data and 
high-level analysis. 

Dashboard Assessment Page: On page three is a high-level snapshot assessment of how the 
organization is doing on implementing its Strategic Directions. It includes information on the key 
performance indicator (KPI) and a rating on progress to date. 

The Four-point Rating Scale is defined as:

Comments and rationale for how an area has been rated can be found in the details of the related 
strategic direction page. 
Staff and Volunteer Capacity Building: Throughout MCC Ontario’s Strategic Plan, there is reference to 
building staff and volunteer capacity to help the organization meet its strategic directions. A bi-annual 
survey of staff and volunteers will be conducted to track progress in these various areas. When results 
are compiled, a summary of the survey findings will be available as a separate page in this report. A 
report was completed in Year 1 but not in Year 2. 

Terminology clarification: For the purpose of this report, an individual is vulnerable because their 
individual circumstances are part of a larger system that does not provide fair and equal access to 
meet their social, physical and economic needs. MCC Ontario focuses on working with people who 
have a lived experienced of homelessness or living in poverty, have a recent refugee background or are 
marginalized newcomers to Canada, live without access to basic human rights or are leaving prison or 
jail to re-enter the community.

1 Currently off track to meet operational priorities and plans laid out; likely adjustments needed

2 Needs attention and adjustments

3 On track given plans and expectations

4 Exceeding expectations; adjustments may be needed
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Ratings
Five-Year Strategic Directions Year 2 KPI Progress Yr 1 Yr 2

1: Increase the capacity of the church and 
other partners as they support and equip 
vulnerable people, especially people who 
have been uprooted and displaced.

To increase the capacity of churches 
and other partners to support 
and equip vulnerable people, 103 
engagement/education activities were 
implemented. 

3 3.5

1B: Increase the capacity of MCC Ontario 
staff and volunteers to support vulnerable, 
uprooted and displaced people in Ontario.

To better support vulnerable and 
displaced people, 91 staff and 55 
volunteers were trained. 20% of all 
people served were vulnerable. 2 3

2: Increase responsive engagement across 
the full range of Anabaptist churches 
and beyond, with an increased focus 
on audience-based communications, 
fundraising and recruitment efforts with a 
new generation. 

To increase connections with younger 
potential donors, four initiatives were 
developed and implemented. A total 
of 206 churches increased their 
engagement scores. 3 3

3: Increase peacebuilding as a key 
component in all of our relief and 
development work and expand our efforts 
for justice and peace.

To address systemic barriers to 
justice and peace, 106 collaborative 
peacebuilding activities were 
implemented and attended by 2,094 
participants. 

3 3

3B: Increase the capacity of MCC Ontario 
staff and volunteers to foster social 
inclusion, belonging and community.

To develop a Theory of Change, 
the Inclusion Nexus Design Phase 
Report was completed which included 
common social inclusion activities, 
promoters and outcomes.

2 3

4: Design and assess MCC’s program and 
operations in light of our commitment to 
care for God’s creation and accompany 
marginalized communities harmed by 
climate change.

To develop a strategy with KPIs, a 
Cross-Departmental Creation Care 
Working Group was formed. 

1 1

5: Expand the reach and impact of Social 
Enterprise in terms of funds, environmental 
and social impact and connecting customers 
with the mission of MCC. 

To withstand the continued impact 
of COVID-19 restrictions and shop 
closures, priority was on rebounding. 
While revenue continues to grow, it fell 
short of budgeted targets. 

1 2

6: Ensure the long-term sustainability of 
MCC Ontario as we work within and seek to 
strengthen the broader MCC mission and 
structure.

To recognize how and when 
collaboration across MCC entities can 
maximize our shared outcomes, an 
updated Covenant has been agreed 
upon, in principle, by the Canadian 
system of MCCs. 

2 3

Rating: 1 = off track, 2 = needs attention, 3 = on track, 
4 = exceeding expectations

Dashboard Assessment
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We must be nimble and ready to adjust our strategies 
to meet changing realities, while remaining mission 
focused.

• Thrift Shops remained agile in responding to
government legislation impacting retail closures,
capacity restrictions and volunteer growth.
Unfortunately, adapting to changing realities also
meant the closing of the MCC Thrift Shop on
Hazelglen Drive in Kitchener.

• COVID-19 limited program plans and participation,
especially that of the most vulnerable. At the same
time, increased and diversified participation was
possible over online platforms.

• Our Becoming Peacemakers training, core
competencies and leadership development are
building blocks in developing an agile workforce
who are continuous learners, creative problem
solvers and innovators, change resilient, clear on
the vision and transformative in their leadership.
Developing our staff and volunteers as key
resources is critical as we go forward.

• The impact of the pandemic on disposable income
(less spending), good returns on investments and
the desire of our donors to help in these challenging
times are all factors contributing to our strong
outcomes. As reflected in our donor retention
strategies, we heavily invested in our stewardship of
these gifts, building relationships and trust with our
donors in the hope of their continued partnership
with us.

As our constituency and partners face the same 
challenges of uncertainty and volatility, MCC Ontario’s 
mission is more important than ever. 

• Rising societal tension and polarization led to
increased requests and highlighted the necessity
for the peace work that is foundational to MCC.
More work in this area is warranted.

• Churches are experiencing continued shifts in
how they engage with their congregations and will

be for the foreseeable future. The hiring of a full-
time Church Engagement Associate has shown 
tremendous results this year and is expected to be 
a key factor in how we move forward to mutually 
support each other.  

• Collaboration with the system of MCC entities
continues to require balancing priorities and
identifying where resources can be maximized to
reach mutual MCC-wide goals.

• Many engaged stakeholders look to MCC Ontario to
provide avenues that will address peace and justice
challenges relating to climate change, Indigenous
justice, refugee response and relief in places such
as Ukraine and Ethiopia.

• Based on MCC Ontario’s experience and research,
we provide extensive intentional support to a limited
number of vulnerable participants. We also provide
activities to raise awareness, foster prevention
and promote inclusion and belonging to a limitless
number of participants from our constituency,
partner organizations and the general public. Our
direct work with vulnerable participants grounds
and informs our broader justice and peace work.

Risks and opportunities as we go forward.  

• Increasing challenges include finding suitable staff
to fill positions, churches generally declining, an
aging donor demographic and competing demands
for constituency, financial resources and priorities.
As a result, we need to strategically prioritize and
focus our work to have the most impact.

• Being a trustworthy partner with organizational
integrity is core to our ability to engage multiple
stakeholders and achieve our mission.

• Looking for opportunities to remain relevant and
innovative, especially with changes in technology,
will mitigate risks of falling behind evolving business
and workplace standards.

• A continued willingness to adjust our Strategic
Plan to keep it relevant should mitigate the risk of
complexity and uncertainty within our environment.

The environment in which we are implementing our Strategic Plan is increasingly uncertain, complex, ambiguous 
and volatile. Global shifts have been accelerated by the pandemic, political and economic unrest and climate 
change, affecting every community and organization. These realities create less certainty and diminish our ability 
to make projections on plans, outcomes and impact. As we complete the second year of our Strategic Plan, we 
are confident that it continues to provide a strong foundation and appropriate overall direction, with room to adapt 
to changing circumstances. At the same time, we need to ensure we are prepared to deliver results and respond 
to our mission in an uncertain and complex world. The overview below outlines areas we need to prioritize as 
informed by our learning and analysis of the results from the past two years. 

MCC Ontario Year-End Dashboard 
Report – Learning and Analysis
Year 2
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Increase the capacity of the church and other partners 
as they support and equip vulnerable people, especially 
people who have been uprooted and displaced

Strategic Direction 1

Activity Overview: 
• Humanitarian Responses – Global: 2,030 relief kits, 

11,600 hygiene kits, 740 sewing kits, 3,704 
comforters, 5,500 school kits and 15,240 tubes of 
toothpaste. Northern Ontario: 339 comforters, 400 
hygiene kits, 110 school kits and 408 tubes of 
toothpaste.

• To respond to the spring COVID-19 outbreaks in 
communities of the James Bay Coast, a campaign 
was launched to support Fort Albany, Kashechewan 
and Attawapiskat First Nations to deliver 50,000 lbs 
of food to 618 families.

• 136 sponsorship groups supported 569 uprooted 
and displaced people. 70% are family-based groups 
working to reunify their families and 30%are faith-
based groups. There was an 11% decrease from last 
year in the number of faith-based groups involved in 
sponsorship. Mennonite and Be in Christ (BIC) 
churches made up 22% of faith-based groups 
involved with refugee sponsorship.

• Through Virtual World Refugee Day celebrations, 
speaking engagements at churches, a webinar
for Low German services providers and the 
Undercurrents podcast, we raised awareness of the 
root causes of migration and displacement.

Analysis, Learning & Unexpected Results:
• The increase in educational activity participants is

predominantly due to the virtual World Refugee Day
events.

• Our capacity remains the same but external factors
(e.g. borders opening and closing or the Ukraine

conflict) will influence numbers beyond our control. 
It is expected to impact our ability to maintain our 
recommended target.

• Despite the pandemic, people remain supportive of 
the work of MCC Ontario. We continue to creatively 
engage various populations and bring them deeper 
into the work of MCC. We further experimented with 
podcasts.

• Despite the long processing time for refugees and 
the ongoing backlog due to COVID-19, sponsorship 
groups remain committed to the cause of refugees 
and at times have assisted with advocacy to help 
expedite cases.

• The onboarding process now used in the Migration 
& Resettlement Program to train and assess refugee 
sponsorship cases is working well; however, we 
have to continue to intentionally engage churches 
as their engagement levels are down.

• Drama has proven to be an effective learning tool in 
the Low German program to engage diverse groups.

Changes to Future Plans:
• Given the backlog of refugees waiting to come

to Canada and recent government policies that
unfairly prioritize one population over another, the
need for public education and advocacy is critical.

• We are working on a more comprehensive model
of church engagement that educates and equips
churches to respond in ways which are decolonized
and respectful to the needs of Indigenous
communities experiencing displacement and
vulnerability.

Key Performance Indicator April 2020 to 
March 2021 

April 2021 to 
March 2022

Capacity building training and events organized by MCC for 
churches and other partners

88 103

Churches and partners engaged with MCC projects for vulnerable 
and displaced people
Subset: 

• # of churches/organizations welcoming newcomers

144
129 groups 
welcoming 

newcomers

161
136 groups 
welcoming 

newcomers
Individuals participated in educational activities related to 
root causes of migration, displacement and factors leading to 
vulnerability

557 participants;
13 activities

1,068 participants;
19 activities

Humanitarian responses for vulnerable populations in Ontario and 
globally

5
2 Jordan;

3 Northern Ontario 

10
8 Central 

Warehouse; 
2 Northern Ontario

OVERALL KPI RATING* 3 3.5

https://mcccanada.ca/undercurrents-podcast-telling-mcc-stories
https://mcccanada.ca/learn/what/categories/supporting-refugees
https://mcccanada.ca/learn/what/categories/low-german-communities


Increase the capacity of MCC Ontario staff and volunteers 
to support vulnerable, uprooted and displaced people in 
Ontario

Strategic Direction 1B

Activity Overview: 
• 91 staff participated in the first National Day for

Truth and Reconciliation on September 30, 2021.
Thrift Shops were closed to allow all staff to deepen
their understanding of the legacy of colonialism and
the resulting injustices faced by Indigenous Peoples
and communities.

• Staff participated in trainings offered by MCC’s
Canada-wide networks and other partners to build
capacity.

• Volunteers participated in trainings to build their
capacity to support vulnerable people participating
in Circles of Support & Accountability (CoSA) and
Circle of Friends.

• Vulnerable People Supported:
• 6 individuals with disabilities and barriers to

traditional employment
• 6 individuals participated in Reclaiming Beauty1 

• 15 Indigenous artisans
• 48 individuals with the lived experience of

homelessness
• 126 individuals with a criminal history
• 139 individuals forced to flee from their home as

refugees welcomed to Canada
• 430 individuals forced to flee from their homes

as refugees still waiting to come to Canada

Analysis, Learning & Unexpected Results: 
• The number of vulnerable participants remains

steady. However, the percentage of vulnerable
participants decreased because the overall number
of program participants has increased.

• Supporting volunteers to develop their capacity to
support vulnerable people goes far beyond formal
training activities. This past year, Circle of Friends
began learning how to intentionally tracking the
amount of time invested in volunteers to develop

their capacity to support vulnerable people safely 
and compassionately. 

• The confluence of several pandemics (mental
health, addictions and COVID-19) are combining to
severely challenge vulnerable populations.
This is exacerbated by rising costs of living and
housing shortages. These realities are impacting the
vulnerable populations we work with and further
isolating some participants.

• We need to continue to find ways to engage
participants in the design of programs. For example,
hearing more from Niska artisans about how we sell
their products and tell their stories will strengthen
the program.

• Intentional and evidence-based intake and
assessment efforts like those implemented in CoSA,
lead to program efforts with participants that are
more clear, targeted, trackable and successful over
time.

• Tracking training opportunities, not just participants,
would recognize the capacity required to organize
and run trainings regardless of participant number.
Some intentionally run more frequently and involve
small group participation.

• To ensure capacity and staff wellness, setting
targets for number of trainings and participants
would be beneficial.

Changes to Future Plans:
• We will need to continue efforts to support staff to

avoid burnout given the challenging environment.
• Given that CoSA has not received federal funding,

the program will be revised over time. We are
conducting a needs analysis of faith communities,
organizations and parole officers to determine next
steps for engagement with ex-offenders in the
community.

Key Performance Indicator April 2020 to 
March 2021 

April 2021 to 
March 2022

Staff and volunteers trained to support vulnerable, uprooted 
and displaced people in Ontario 

Staff – 33 (22.9%) 
Volunteers - 55 (5%)

Staff – 91 (72%)
Volunteers – 55 

(4%)
Vulnerable people supported through programs and 
percentage of vulnerable of total people served 

771 (29%) vulnerable 
participants 
Total: 2701 

770 (20%) 
vulnerable 

participants
Total: 3,932

OVERALL KPI RATING 2 3

1Walking with People in Poverty program involving six individuals who reclaim beauty in discarded items and their personal lives. 

https://mcccanada.ca/learn/more/circle-friends
https://mcccanada.ca/learn/more/circles-support-accountability-cosa
https://mcccanada.ca/learn/more/niska-artisans


Increase responsive engagement across the full range 
of Anabaptist churches and beyond, with an increased 
focus on audience-based communications, fundraising and 
recruitment efforts with a new generation 

Strategic Direction 2

Activity Overview: 
• As the result of an exhaustive church engagement

review, a full-time Church Engagement Associate
was hired. In less than nine months, he connected
with all churches at engagement level one (24)
and engagement level two (57). 24 speaking
engagements occurred over six months.

• An MCC national network of church engagement
staff began meeting to share experiential learnings
and approaches to church engagement.

• A report with recommendations for Youth & Young
Adult (YYA) activities across MCC Ontario was
created.

• Volunteer numbers have increased as COVID-19
restrictions lifted. Thrift has been approaching
high schools and connecting with co-ops to attract
younger volunteers for their required high school
hours. Efforts are being made to retain student
volunteers past the required hours.

Analysis, Learning & Unexpected Results: 
• Implementing key recommendations from the

church engagement review has significantly
increased engagement. Many churches outside
the Anabaptist denomination resonate with MCC’s
values and mission.

• While 206 churches increased their engagement
score, 89 churches had a lower score, likely due to

COVID-19 related factors.
• Post-COVID-19, there is a gap in our YYA

engagement from pre-existing programs. Staff and
budget capacities are lacking to develop and
implement a new, comprehensive YYA strategy
focused on peacebuilding, reconciliation, advocacy
and welcoming the stranger.

• Word-of-mouth has proven important in YYA
volunteer recruitment. This indicates the necessity
of a good volunteer experience to influence their
social networks.

• We continue to learn how to best track data for YYA.
For example, without broader context to the KPI
measuring, new hires under 30 (essentially the
limited age range of 25-30) is an irrelevant indicator
of progress.

Changes to Future Plans:
• As churches seek resources to assist in fulfilling

their mission, the development of new church
resources would be beneficial. Creating a single
point to access resources would create mutual
efficiencies.

• KPIs will be reconsidered to identify meaningful
metrics to track YYA engagement given their high
mobility as a group that most frequently engages
with MCC in more short-term, one-off interactions
given their season of life.

Key Performance Indicator April 2020 to 
March 2021 

April 2020 to 
March 2021

# of initiatives developed and implemented 
that increase connections with younger 
potential donors 

4

# of churches with an increase in 
engagement score 

206

# of new volunteers under 30 years old  66 209
# of current volunteers under 30 years old  231 301
# of new hires under 30 years old Data not valid
% of current staff under 30 years old 15% 15%
# of new supporting churches 4 16
# of congregations engaged from each 
conference

66 MCEC; 14 MB; 13 Plain; 10 BIC, United, 
Other; 3 Apostolic, Anglican, Independent; 

2 EMCC, Presbyterian, Pentecostal, Church of 
Christ; 1 Church of God, EMMC

# of total supporting churches 113 142
OVERALL KPI RATING* 3 3



Increase peacebuilding as a key component in all of our 
relief and development work and expand our efforts for 
justice and peace

Strategic Direction 3

Activity Overview:
• The Anti-Racism Committee held monthly meetings

to brainstorm strategies that would position MCC
Ontario as an anti-racist organization and shared
these with the senior leadership team and staff.

• 1,095 people engaged in 19 activities related to
justice for Indigenous Peoples including speaking
engagements, events, a learning tour and a Niska
workshop.

• MCC collaborated with 14 Indigenous communities
to promote Indigenous food sovereignty and
address systemic barriers to food justice. To expand
the gardening season, two communities received a
greenhouse.

•

•

718 individuals engaged in seven peacebuilding
trainings, including Peace Conference, the Peace
Skills certificate program, etc.
266 individuals participated in 18 Training Active
Bystanders (TAB) workshops facilitated by MCC
Ontario trainers. Partners trained an additional 89
people. Most staff were trained over the past two
years, as well as 71 volunteers.

• 15 People’s Action Group (PAG) members continued
to advocate for affordable housing.

• 48 advocacy activities in response to community-led
priorities included meetings with government policy
makers, collaborations for policy change, letter
writing, blogs, editorials, water booklet,
presentations, etc.

Analysis, Learning & Unexpected Results:
• Due to increased intentionality in tracking advocacy

activities that are included in overall peacebuilding
activities, that KPI is increasing. The tracking of
resulting constituency advocacy needs
improvement.

• The Anti-Racism Committee began to identify
policies and structures that may be barriers to
inclusion. They had conversations with the Board
and Leadership Team regarding next steps.

• The interest in the Indigenous Neighbours program
remains as we grapple with truth and reconciliation.

• Working collaboratively and building genuine
partnerships in the context of complex social justice
work takes time. Program planning, timelines and
evaluation must be built around this reality.

Changes to Future Plans:
• Need to continue to work at decolonizing our ways

of knowing and doing to be effective at peace and
justice.

• Plans for anti-racism training across the
organization for the coming fiscal year are in place.

• Consideration is being given to the diversity of
activities counted and the possibility of moving
toward more outcome-based activities.

Key Performance Indicator April 2020 to 
March 2021 

April 2021 to 
March 2022

External peacebuilding and restorative justice 
activities and participants
Subsets: 

• # of advocacy activities informed by the lived
experience of vulnerable participants

• # of educational events related to justice for
Indigenous Peoples; # of participants

41 activities, 1,373 
participants

• Not tracked
• 11 educational events

related to justice of
Indigenous Peoples,
659 participants

106 activities, 2,094 
participants

• 48 advocacy
activities

• 19 educational
events related
to justice of
Indigenous Peoples,
1,095 participants

Staff and volunteers trained on peace and 
restorative justice

Staff – 93 (65%)
Volunteers – 44 (4%) 

Staff – 41 (30%)
Volunteers – 84 (6%)

Staff and volunteers trained on anti-racism Staff – 22 (15%)
Volunteers – 1 (0.7%) 

Staff – 14 (10%)
Volunteers – 0

Vulnerable program participants trained on peace 
and restorative justice

6 6

OVERALL KPI RATING* 3 3

https://mcccanada.ca/learn/more/niska-artisans
https://mcccanada.ca/stories/mcc-peace-conference
https://mcccanada.ca/stories/why-didnt-anyone-intervene
https://mcccanada.ca/learn/more/peoples-action-group
https://mcccanada.ca/learn/what/categories/indigenous-neighbours


Increase the capacity of MCC Ontario staff and volunteers 
to foster social inclusion, belonging and community

Strategic Direction 3B

Activity Overview: 
• 253 volunteers completed mandatory Accessibility

for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA) Training.
• Program staff participated in a meeting to reflect on

the Inclusion Nexus Design Phase Report, a Talking
Circle and a session on Stories of Transformation &
Inclusion to strengthen social inclusion capacity.

• The Inclusion Nexus Design Phase Report, including
common social inclusion activities, promoters
and outcomes, was utilized by programs as they
developed project plans for the upcoming fiscal
year.

• 59 participants were supported through 880 CoSA
and Circle of Friends circle meetings involving 86
volunteers (1,878 hours.)

• 20 individuals were supported to maintain
community connectedness through Circle of Friends
activities: 24 Healing Journeys Sessions, nine
monthly gatherings.

• 45 individuals living with the stigma of a criminal
history participated in 40 social inclusion activities,
including Dismas Fellowship, Bible Studies, Trivia
Nights, Movie Club, Photo and Video Club and
CROW (Creative Rivers of Words) Cafe (space to
share and explore word based works together).

• 61 individuals were supported with faith community
reintegration.

• 139 newcomers adjusted to life in Canada with the
support of 41 Sponsorship Groups.

• 6 individuals with disabilities and barriers to
traditional employment each earned $3,607 of
supplemental income working at the Raw Carrot
Soup Enterprise.

• 6 individuals participated in six Reclaiming Beauty
sessions.

Analysis, Learning & Unexpected Results: 
• Slight decrease in number of vulnerable participants

involved in social inclusion efforts given fewer
refugees arriving in Canada due to pandemic.

• Staff training numbers are expected to fluctuate
over time as we coordinate training with other
demands.

• Our COVID-19 pivoting to virtually engage program
participants while staff worked primarily from home
did not work well for all individuals or programs
– especially for efforts to foster inclusion and
belonging.

• Complimentary initiatives like the Reclaiming
Beauty project seem to work better after
participants have had some initial program
involvement.

• A social inclusion theory of change was developed
with MCC Ontario programs. This theory of
change is now being tested in other parts of the
organization including Thrift and Operations.

Changes to Future Plans:
• Some direct service programs are eager to move

back to in-person programming given the limitations
and challenges of virtual gatherings.

• Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities (AODA)
Training is required by provincial law for all staff and
volunteers. With an increased focus on becoming
peacemakers and fostering social inclusion,
AODA training provides an opportunity for staff
and volunteers to learn to apply peacebuilding
competencies as we work to identify, remove and
prevent barriers for people with disabilities.

Key Performance Indicator April 2020 to 
March 2021 

April 2021 to 
March 2022

Vulnerable people who participated in social inclusion 
activities 

356 311

Staff and volunteers trained on ways to foster social 
inclusion, belonging and community 

0 Staff – 25 (18%)
Volunteers – 265 (18%)  

OVERALL KPI RATING 3 3
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https://mcccanada.ca/learn/more/circle-friends
https://mcccanada.ca/learn/more/circles-support-accountability-cosa
https://mcccanada.ca/learn/more/dismas-fellowship
https://mcccanada.ca/learn/more/raw-carrot-soup-enterprise


Design and assess MCC’s program and operations in 
light of our commitment to care for God’s creation and 
accompany marginalized communities harmed by climate 
change

Strategic Direction 4

Activity Overview:
• A Creation Care Working Group of department

representatives was formed. Practical ways to
reduce waste and build sustainable practices into
our work were explored.

• Though our emergency responses in First Nations
this past year were prompted by COVID-19, the
challenges are compounded by climate change that
is increasing the number of forest fires and floods in
Ontario’s north. (In the summer of 2021 there were
180 significant forest fires burning across northern
Ontario.) We are developing an evacuation kit as a
small response to this worsening reality.

Analysis, Learning & Unexpected Results:
• A re-evaluation of the Working Group’s Terms of

Reference is necessary to clarify the purpose and
expected outcomes. Efforts this year were primarily
focused on drafting meaningful KPIs and how to
manage their tracking.

• It is recommended that the Working Group be
driven by participants who have passion and
interest in the work.

• A single person for Creation Care efforts across
MCC Ontario would provide consistent coordination
and reporting of collaborative efforts.

• A lack of staff capacity, fiscal resources and
subject expertise all lend to the difficulty in creating
momentum.

• Meaningful activities and KPIs for MCC Ontario
continue to be considered. The potential for a
property audit through the lens of creation care
could hold multiple outcomes.

Changes to Future Plans:
• Heading into Year 3 of the Strategic Plan, possible

areas for assessment and development include
events, building, operations, travel, learning,
advocacy, networking and tracking.

Key Performance Indicator April 2020 to 
March 2021 

April 2021 to 
March 2022

Cross-Departmental Creation Care Working Group 
formed to develop a strategy with KPIs. Departments 
represented in the group will include Thrift, Material 
Resources, Facilities, Program, Finance and 
Communications

Yes

# of new projects and initiatives that implement 
environmental assessments before initiation

0 0

# of groups and individuals educated on climate change 
and creation care

1 0

# of responses to First Nations related to climate change 0 0
OVERALL KPI RATING 1 1
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Expand the reach and impact of Social Enterprise in terms 
of funds, environmental and social impact and connecting 
customers with the mission of MCC 

Strategic Direction 5

Activity Overview: 
• Despite the ongoing impact of COVID-19 (closures,

reduced capacities), almost all shops rebounded
quickly after each stage of reopening. When
customers returned, the shops experienced some
of the highest sales days, weeks or months ever.
Donations to the shops were still consistent and
sometimes overwhelming. The one exception to this
was the Hazelglen Drive location in Kitchener that
opened during the pandemic. Due to an inability to
gain solid volunteer and customer bases, the shop
was closed.

• Using the shop Instagram channels (over 8,000
followers), we introduced the work of MCC and
made the direct link with MCC Thrift. Television
screens provide a constant flow of graphics and
videos linking MCC and Thrift.

• A total of seven communication campaigns were run
at shops to promote the work of MCC. Five focused
on MCC Ontario’s provincial work and two on MCC
Canada’s international work.

• To build supports and capacity in the shop teams,
four sessions of professional development training
to Thrift Coordinators and Production Managers
were provided.

• Over 1,100 customers completed customer
satisfaction surveys (600 online and 500 in shops).
72.6% of online respondents were aware that we
are an MCC Thrift Shop and 78.2% of in-shop
respondents. A score of eight was achieved from a
1-10 (low to high) sliding scale in overall satisfaction
across the network of shops.

Analysis, Learning & Unexpected Results:
• Though the KPI in this area was not met, shops

overcame many challenges this year and were able 
to earn higher than expected revenues. 

• Early efforts to increase promotional initiatives
linking MCC and Thrift has shown great strides.
Growth in this area was recognized. Given the lack
of current staff capacity and expertise, two new
roles focused on marketing and social media have
been budgeted for 2022-2023.

• Despite a lower number of customers in the shops,
they consistently spent more during each visit.
This was indicated across the network of shops in
Ontario.

• Further learning and analysis from the Hazelglen
Drive experience are required to ensure risks are
mitigated when new ventures are launched in the
future.

• Measuring the number of MCC promotional
initiatives may not be the best KPI in achieving our
Operational Priority. This KPI may be modified in
future consultation with the Marketing Specialist.

• Clarification is required on what training is valuable
to track. For example, 96% of staff supervisors
participated at Thrift-themed professional
development days which invests into Thrift’s
revenue-growing potential.

• Replacing aging volunteers who will be exiting their
positions in the coming years will be key to keeping
expenses minimized.

Changes to Future Plans:
• Investigate alternative approaches to expand Thrift

Shop capacity without large capital requirements.
• Current KPIs require adjustment to provide more

meaningful measurements of success.

Key Performance Indicator April 2020 to 
March 2021 

April 2021 to 
March 2022

Annual revenue target and income sharing target met  Revenue target not met. 
Income sharing target not 
met

Fell short of targets due 
to pandemic restrictions 
and shop closures

# of MCC promotion initiatives Data not available

% of staff and volunteers trained Data not available
Customer satisfaction and awareness of MCC measured 
and tracked over time 

Satisfaction level 
scored 8 on a 1-10 (low 
to high) sliding scale
Awareness of MCC: 
75%

OVERALL KPI RATING 1 2



Ensure the long-term sustainability of MCC Ontario as 
we work within and seek to strengthen the broader MCC 
mission and structure

Strategic Direction 6

Activity Overview:
Governance:
• A Covenant for Canadian MCC entities was finalized

and agreed upon, in principle, by all. It will be signed
once the new Covenant between MCC Canada and
MCC US has been signed. Despite not being signed,
entities in Canada are following many of the new
guidelines.

Financial: 
• Given the continued pandemic environment,

discretionary spending was curtailed again this
fiscal year. As a result, we ended the fiscal year
below budget which will supplement reserves for
use in future years.

• Initial steps were taken to establish target

proportions of budget between program and 
support services by reviewing actual spending 
results from prior years. This analysis provided data 
for future discussions and revealed there are other 
factors to consider beyond just target ratios. 

Program:
• Results from the assessment of program fit

indicated a high degree of alignment with MCC’s
Strategic Plan and operating principles and were
used to further inform this year’s plans.

Internal Organizational Strength: 
• An organization-wide risk assessment and

mitigation plan was implemented and informed the
development and monitoring of the MCC Ontario

Key Performance Indicator April 2020 to
March 2021 

April 2021 to
March 2022

Track departmental budget ratios against targets Baseline data collected 
(YR1)

Targets yet to be set

Total staff Full Time Equivalent (FTE); total volunteer 
hours

118.116 FTE
83,643 hrs

114.4 FTE
126,096 hrs

% of change of ‘Where Needed Most’ donations Baseline data collected 
(YR1)

+8.4%

New Covenant developed In process All Canadian MCC entities 
have agreed in principal 

and are complying with it
Programs assessed for fit, impact, effectiveness and 
support

Baseline data collected 
(YR1)

Plans informed by YR1’s 
assessment have been 

developed
Annual risk registry tracked and further emergency 
protocols developed

In process Yes

Track standard HR metrics, draw conclusions and make 
recommendations

Yes Yes

Using the Center for Internet Security as a benchmark for 
our level of security and maintenance, increase the Self-
Assessment score of our controls by 10% each year

Baseline data collected

Track standard fundraising metrics  Yes Yes
# of new donors 1,616 1,620
% of new donors converted to 2nd gift 28% 12%
# of monthly donors 932 1,056
# of donors 6,664 6,719
OVERALL KPI RATING 2 3
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Risk Registry Dashboard. Quarterly assessment 
and reporting on risks identified as top priority was 
undertaken by the senior leadership team. 

• The first Internet Security Self-Assessment was
completed to determine our baseline score.

• Wellness continues to be a top priority for our
workforce. Intentional supports were provided
this year to Thrift staff and while their indicators
remain concerning, there has been strong progress
over this year. Many of the people metrics have
stabilized.

Fundraising:
• Disaster responses — an unknown in any given

year — impact our work priorities and resulting data.
This year, two major crises substantially increased
our donor traffic: emergency COVID-19-relief
work in the James Bay area (Ontario-led initiative
in collaboration with a member of Parliament)
and responding to the war in Ukraine (system-led
initiative). It was extremely encouraging to see
how quickly the team was able to re-prioritize work
to respond effectively and efficiently to the huge
increase in giving. 824 new donors responded to
the James Bay campaign while between February
24 (invasion date) and March 31, 721 new donors
responded to the Ukraine crisis.

• Efforts to connect donors directly with MCC’s
local and international work was accomplished
through six virtual and in-person events hosted and
facilitated by MCC Ontario’s Donor Relations team.

• Throughout the course of the fiscal year, the
Ontario Donor Relations team was able to reach
over 6,000 donors through videos (CauseVid) to
express gratitude and appreciation for partnership.

• In collaboration with MCC Canada, the strategy
for our donor appeals was further developed with
outstanding results.

Analysis, Learning & Unexpected Results:
Financial: 
• The budgeting process and timeline requires Thrift

and the rest of the organization to build their
budgets at different times of the year. This split
timeline causes additional work and leaves room for
inconsistent or uninformed decision-making.

• Determining a target budget split between program
and support services is difficult to establish due
to shifting priorities that define spending levels.
Potential exists for a trends analysis to proactively
inform enterprise-wide decisions.

Internal Organizational Strength: 
• Decreased FTE has been mainly due to the closure

of two MCC Ontario locations - rePurpose and
Hazelglen Drive Thrift Shop.

• Several indicators collectively suggest this year
has been particularly challenging for the Program
department. Given Program’s percentages of FTE,
the impact is more significant for this department
and their challenges have been less obvious to
leadership and staff. We need to prioritize initiatives

that support this department’s wellness.
• Development of a live, rolling, enterprise-wide

risk registry is required to ensure mitigation and
accountability occurs at the senior leadership team
level.

• There is desire to develop a metric that would
measure organizational sustainability and assess
our target.

Fundraising: 
• Investing in additional staff capacity allowed us

to strategically focus on new donor retention and
lapsed donors and provided additional capacity to
respond to and steward donors throughout the year.
A strategy on how to engage younger audiences
is missing but cannot be fulfilled within the team’s
current capacity.

• The Ukrainian emergency response was an
excellent test of the systems and processes that
have been implemented over the last few years
by MCC Ontario’s team and MCC entities across
the country. There will need to be some debrief
both provincially and nationally on areas that need
further refinement and clarity.

• Second gift conversion rates can be impacted by
the donor’s motivation for their gift. New donors
giving to a specific cause or world crisis do not
necessarily give again as they may not be directly
connected to MCC (for example, James Bay
donors.) This ultimately affects our second donor
gift conversion and retention metrics. While the
second gift conversion metric appears to have
dropped significantly over the previous year, many
first-time donors gave within the last month of the
fiscal year to the crisis response in Ukraine.

Changes to Future Plans:
Financial: 
• New, intentional capacity and operations planning

will better inform all budgeting processes for
compensation related costs and reflect a more
accurate budget across the organization.

• Further consideration is required to assess and
develop a useful tool to establish budget ratios
between program and support services.

Program:
• Plan for an additional assessment, potentially in

summer 2024.
Internal Organizational Strength:
• Further development of our people analytics is

required to better utilize people data to inform
decision making.

• Integration with the MCC system will be pursued to
strengthen our internet security.

Fundraising:
• The next area of more intentional focus will be

major donor stewardship. While some excellent
strategies have been implemented over the last
few years, development of major donor giving must
continue as these donors contribute over 75% of
our total donations. A KPI related to this topic could
be considered for the future.



Appendix 1

MCC Ontario Strategic Directions 2020-2025
The Purpose of MCC Ontario’s Strategic Plan is to identify strategic directions for the next five 
years that will equip us to advance our mission.   

Strategic Directions 
Ontario Operational 

Priorities 
(High-level priorities)

Ontario Key Performance 
Indicators 

(How do we measure 
outcomes)

Ontario KPI - 
Dashboard

1: Increase the capacity 
of the church and 
other partners as they 
support and equip 
vulnerable people, 
especially people who 
have been uprooted 
and displaced

• Foster an array of
opportunities within
MCC (both in Ontario
and globally) to engage
churches, supporters
and partners on priority
needs for vulnerable,
uprooted and displaced
people

• Train, educate, connect
and resource churches,
supporters and partners
from our knowledge
and skill base (including
trauma-informed
and decolonizing
approaches) so they can
meaningfully engage

• Ensure quality support
for newcomers through
the resettlement and
integration process

• # of educational activities
related to root causes of
migration, displacement
and factors leading
to vulnerability; # of
participants (Note: the
focus is on the individual
participant)

• # of capacity building
training and events
organized by MCC for
churches and other
partners (Note: the
focus is on church/
organization/group)

• # of churches and
partners engaged
with MCC projects for
vulnerable and displaced
people
Subset:
• # of churches/

organizations
welcoming
newcomers

• # of humanitarian
responses for vulnerable
populations in Ontario
and globally

• # of capacity
building training and
events organized by
MCC for churches
and other partners

Target 
Recommendation: 
• Maintain

approximately the
same

1B: Increase the 
capacity of MCC 
Ontario staff and 
volunteers to support 
vulnerable, uprooted 
and displaced people in 
Ontario

• Develop the capacity
of Ontario programs
and Thrift to safely and
compassionately support
vulnerable, uprooted and
displaced people

• Develop the capacity
of staff and volunteers
to safely and
compassionately support
vulnerable, uprooted and
displaced people

• # of vulnerable people
supported through
programs and percentage
of the total people served
who are vulnerable

• % of staff and volunteers
trained per year

• % of staff and volunteers
equipped to support
vulnerable, uprooted and
displaced people (bi-
annual survey)

• % of staff and
volunteers trained
per year

Target 
Recommendation: 
• Maintain over time
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Strategic Directions 
Ontario Operational 

Priorities 
(High-level priorities)

Ontario Key Performance 
Indicators 

(How do we measure 
outcomes)

Ontario KPI - 
Dashboard

2: Increase responsive 
engagement across the 
full range of Anabaptist 
churches and beyond, 
with an increased 
focus on audience-
based communications, 
fundraising and 
recruitment efforts with 
a new generation 

• Identify and implement
specific strategies to
increase connection
with and engagement
of younger audiences,
including volunteers,
staff and donors

• Identify and implement
specific strategies to
increase connection
with and engagement of
both existing churches
(Anabaptist and beyond),
and new churches

• # of new volunteers under
30 years old

• # of current volunteers
under 30 years old

• # of new hires under 30
years old

• # of current staff under
30 years old

• # of initiatives developed
and implemented that
increase connections with
younger potential donors

• # of new supporting
churches

• # of congregations from
each conference

• # of total supporting
churches

• # of churches with an
increase in engagement
score

• # of initiatives
developed and
implemented
that increase
connections with
younger potential
donors

• # of churches with
an increase in
engagement score

Target 
Recommendation: 
• Increase # of

initiatives for
connection with
younger potential
donors

• Increase
engagement scores
of existing churches
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Strategic Directions 
Ontario Operational 

Priorities 
(High-level priorities)

Ontario Key Performance 
Indicators 

(How do we measure 
outcomes)

Ontario KPI - 
Dashboard

3: Increase 
peacebuilding as a key 
component in all of our 
relief and development 
work and expand our 
efforts for justice and 
peace

• Collaborate (internally
and externally) to
address systemic
barriers to peace and
justice (prevention and
advocacy)

• Intentionally include
and create anti-racism
strategies in all our
efforts

• Continue to respond
to the need for justice
for Indigenous Peoples,
including the Truth
and Reconciliation
Commission Calls to
Action

• Implement peace and
restorative justice
programming, training
and initiatives

• Implement internal
training for staff and
volunteers regarding
theology of peace and
restorative justice

• # of external
peacebuilding and
restorative justice
activities; # of
participants Subsets:
• # of advocacy

activities informed by
the lived experience
of vulnerable
participants

• # of educational
events related to
justice for Indigenous
Peoples; # of
participants

• % of staff and volunteers
trained on peace and
restorative justice

• % of staff and volunteers
trained on anti-racism

• % of staff and volunteers
with confidence to have
conversations when
stakes are high, opinions
vary and emotions run
strong (bi-annual survey)

• % of staff and volunteers
equipped to respond to
racism when they witness
or encounter it (bi-annual
survey)

• # of vulnerable program
participants trained on
peace and restorative
justice

• # of external
peacebuilding and
restorative justice
activities; # of
participants

Target 
Recommendation: 
• Maintain activity

number

3B: Increase the 
capacity of MCC 
Ontario staff and 
volunteers to foster 
social inclusion, 
belonging and 
community

• Intentionally explore
inclusion and belonging
best practices and
theory of change

• Train staff and
volunteers on the
competencies and values
required to strengthen
social inclusion capacity

• Develop programs and
Thrift to enhance social
inclusion, belonging and
community

• % of staff and volunteers
trained on ways to
foster social inclusion,
belonging and community

• % of staff and volunteers
who indicate (through
self-reporting) being
better equipped to foster
social inclusion and
community belonging
in their work with MCC
Ontario

• # of vulnerable people
who participate in social
inclusion activities

• % of staff and
volunteers who
indicate (through
self-reporting)
being better
equipped to foster
social inclusion
and community
belonging in their
work with MCC
Ontario

Target 
Recommendation: 
• Not ready to set a

target
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Strategic Directions 
Ontario Operational 

Priorities 
(High-level priorities)

Ontario Key Performance 
Indicators 

(How do we measure 
outcomes)

Ontario KPI - 
Dashboard

4: Design and assess 
MCC’s program and 
operations in light of 
our commitment to 
care for God’s creation 
and accompany 
marginalized 
communities harmed by 
climate change

• Use MCC’s
environmental
assessment guidelines
for all new projects
and initiatives (capital
projects over $100,000
and/or projects that
have a project or
business plan)

• Increase education re:
climate change and
creation care, as well as
the impact on vulnerable
populations (First
Nations, refugees)

• Create a Cross-
Departmental Creation
Care Working Group that
develops a strategy with
KPIs

• # of new projects
and initiatives that
implement environmental
assessments before
initiation

• Cross-Departmental
Creation Care Working
Group formed to develop
a strategy with KPIs.
Departments represented
in the group will
include Thrift, Material
Resources, Facilities,
Program, Finance and
Communications

• # of groups and
individuals educated
on climate change and
creation care

• # of responses to First
Nations related to climate
change

• Cross-Departmental
Creation Care
Working Group
formed to develop a
strategy with KPIs

Target 
Recommendation: 
• Not ready to set a

target

5: Expand the reach 
and impact of Social 
Enterprise in terms of 
funds, environmental 
and social impact and 
connecting customers 
with the mission of 
MCC 

• Continue to explore
initiatives to increase
revenue

• Develop and implement
a strategy to promote
MCC and encourage
further engagement

• Build capacity of staff
and volunteers to be
effective in their roles

• Implement a customer-
centric focus with
customer satisfaction
tracked over time

• Annual revenue target
and income sharing target
met

• # of MCC promotion
initiatives

• % of staff and volunteers
trained

• Customer satisfaction
and awareness of MCC
measured and tracked
over time

• Annual revenue
target and income
sharing target met

Target 
Recommendation: 
• Not ready to set a

target
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Strategic Directions 
Ontario Operational 

Priorities 
(High-level priorities)

Ontario Key Performance 
Indicators 

(How do we measure 
outcomes)

Ontario KPI - 
Dashboard

6: Ensure the long-
term sustainability of 
MCC Ontario as we 
work within and seek to 
strengthen the broader 
MCC mission and 
structure

Governance:
• Creation of and

adherence to a healthy
Covenant between the
various regional and
national stakeholders

Financial:
• Assess proportion

of annual budget for
program and support
services and set targets
to align with Ontario
priorities

Program:
• Conduct periodic

program assessment
for alignment with
Strategic Plan, positive
impact, effectiveness,
community needs and
constituency support

Internal Organizational 
Strength:
• Continue risk

assessment process
and further develop
emergency and crisis
management protocols

• Assess and strategize
toward a workforce that
meets current and future
needs of MCC Ontario,
incorporating best
practices

• Ensure appropriate
technology and
communication capacity
meets MCC Ontario’s
growing needs

• Assess and improve
the security and
maintenance of our
digital tools (both
software and hardware)
to minimize disruption
from cyberattacks or
disrepair

Fundraising: 
• Continue to invest in

the development and
implementation of a
strong fundraising
strategy

Governance:
• New Covenant developed
Financial:
• Measure target % of

budget against actual
for program and support
services

Programs:
• Programs assessed for fit,

impact, effectiveness and
support

Internal Organizational 
Strength:
• Annual risk registry

tracked and further
emergency protocols
developed

• Track standard
HR metrics, draw
conclusions and make
recommendations

• Using the Center for
Internet Security Controls
as a benchmark for our
level of security and
maintenance, increase
the Self-Assessment
score of our controls by
10% each year

Fundraising:
• Track standard

fundraising metrics
• # of new donors
• # of new donors

converted to 2nd gift
• # of monthly donors
• # of donors
• % of change in ‘Where

Needed Most’ donations

• Track departmental
budget ratios
against targets

• Total staff FTE; total
volunteer hours

• % of change in
‘Where Needed
Most’ donations

Target 
Recommendation: 
• Not ready to set a

target

return to agenda
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